IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA F I L E D

SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SURREME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_

MICHAEL BERNARD BELL,

Appellant,

۷.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 86,094

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W.C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### Procedural Progress Of The Case

Michael Bernard Bell was indicted in Duval County for two counts of first degree murder for the shooting deaths of Jimmy West and Tamecka Smith. (R 8-9, 28-30) Two indictments were returned. (R 8-9, 28-30) The first one, returned on September 29, 1994, was replaced by the second, returned on December 15, 1994, since the prosecutor was concerned the first did not sufficiently allege venue. (R 8, 28-30, Tr 21-23) The court ordered a psychiatric examination to determine Bell's competency to stand trial. (R 31) Dr. Ernest C. Miller submitted a report to the court dated December 30, 1995, concluding that Bell was competent to stand trial and was not in need of hospitalization. (R 39-41) Bell pleaded not guilty and proceeded to a jury trial which started on March 6, 1995. (Tr 62) The jury found Bell guilty of both counts as charged on March 9, 1995. (R 76-77, Tr 634-635) On March 17, 1995, the penalty phase of the trial was conducted and the jury recommended a death sentence for each murder conviction. (Tr 639, 720-721) (R 89, 91)

Circuit Judge R. Hudson Olliff adjudged Bell guilty and sentenced him to death on each murder. (R 94-116) In a single sentencing order covering both homicides, the court found three aggravating circumstances and one mitigating circumstance. (R 100-116) In aggravation, the court found: (1) Bell had a previous conviction for a violent felony; (2) Bell knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons; and (3) the homicides were committed in a

cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R 108-110) In mitigation, the court found that Bell suffered from an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (R 111, 113)

Bell filed notice of appeal to this Court on June 29, 1995. (R 122)

## Pretrial Complaints About Defense Counsel

On two separate occasions before trial, Bell complained about the performance of his trial lawyer. (R 48-50, Tr 27-50, 103-109) First, pursuant to a letter Bell wrote alleging incompetence of counsel, the court held a hearing on January 4, 1995. (Tr 27-50) (excerpts from the record containing this hearing are attached as Appendix A). Bell alleged that his lawyer had not adequately communicated with him about the case and that he failed to properly investigate since he did not obtain the list of witnesses Bell had available. (Tr 27-30) After inquiring of Bell about these allegations, the court asked for counsel's response. (Tr 30-35) Defense counsel explained the preparation he had done in the case and said he first learned of Bell's list of witnesses the previous day. (Tr 30-33) Bell stated that the previous day was the first time counsel had informed him of the substance of the State's case, and Bell said he advised counsel of the existence of his witnesses in November. (Tr 33-35) Bell also asked to appear as co-counsel in his case. (Tr 29/39) The court advised Bell that he did not permit defendants to act as co-counsel. (Tr 39) However, the court asked Bell about his age, his educational level and previous experience in court proceedings. (Tr 39-40) He advised Bell of some problems

he might experience if he represented himself. (Tr 40-44) Finally, the judge asked Bell about his knowledge of criminal procedure. (Tr 44-46) At the end of the inquiry, the court announced that Bell was not competent to act as co-counsel because he lacked sufficient knowledge of criminal procedure. (Tr 46) The judge then explained to Bell that he had two options: (1) continue with his appointed lawyer, or (2) represent himself. (Tr 46) Immediately, the court eliminated the second option stating,

ĉ

...I find that you are not competent to represent yourself. You may want to and you may think that you know how, but from asking these questions and the answers you gave it's apparent to me that you are not able to adequately represent yourself as counsel or co-counsel.

(Tr 46). At the conclusion of the hearing, the court granted a continuance and authorized the defense attorney to hire an investigator to help interview witnesses. (Tr 47-50)

On March 6, 1995, the day jury selection began, Bell filed a written pro se motion to discharge his lawyer. (R 48-49) Bell alleged that his lawyer breached the confidential nature of attorney-client communications and was not representing him in an effective manner. (R 48-49) Specifically, Bell charged that his lawyer discussed his case while the brother of a state witness was sitting beside Bell in the holding cell. (R 48-49) The court conducted a hearing on the motion on the same day. (Tr 103-109) (excerpts from the record containing this hearing are attached as Appendix B).

At the hearing on his motion, Bell further explained his complaints. (Tr 103-108) He said that when his lawyer discussed his case, Bruce Dixon was in the holding cell with him and heard what was said. (Tr 103-105, 108) Bell, at that time, did not realize that Bruce Dixon was the brother of a potential State witness, Marvin Dixon. (Tr 103-104) After the conversation, Bruce Dixon said he intended to tell his brother what he heard. (Tr 108) Defense counsel stated that the information he related was from depositions which are public record. (Tr 106-107) He also gave Bell his opinion about the likely outcome of the trial. (Tr 106-107) Bell challenged this characterization of the information and discussion. (Tr 108) Bell also claimed the he had only two conferences with the defense investigator and certain investigative matters were not completed. (Tr 108) Counsel stated that the investigator completed the needed work. (Tr 106-107) At the conclusion of the hearing, the court merely denied the motion. (Tr 109)

## Facts Of The Offense

In 1989, a feud developed between Theodore Wright and Michael Bell. (Tr 394-396). Theodore's half-brother, Jimmy West, and Michael's brother, Lamar Bell, also became involved in the feud. (Tr 395-396). The men had known each other most of their lives and had grown up together in Jacksonville. (Tr 394-396). The feud also expanded to confrontations with other family members. (Tr 496-499, 509-510, 516-517). The feud involved threats from Theodore and his brother, Jimmy West, who was also called "Killer" toward Michael.

(Tr 516). Killer had made it openly known that he would kill Michael Bell if he could find him. (Tr 516).

Theodore Wright shot and killed Lamar "PeeWee" Bell on June 19, 1993. (Tr 396-399). Theodore was inside the Silver Moon Lounge. (Tr 396). A man told him that Michael and his brother, Peewee, were outside waiting on him. (Tr 396). The man handed Theodore a pistol. (Tr 396). Theodore stuck the gun in his waistband and walked out the door. (Tr 397). He saw Michael standing to his right. (Tr 397). He saw Peewee standing two car lengths away. (Tr 397). Peewee pulled a black revolver from his waist band. (Tr 397). Theodore pulled his pistol and shot Peewee. (Tr 397). Michael ran and Theodore chased him. (Tr 398). The two men exchanged two gunshots. (Tr 398). Theodore did not see Michael again. (Tr 398). Peewee died from the gunshot wound. (Tr 398). Theodore's shooting of Peewee was ruled self-defense, and he was not prosecuted. (Tr 398).

Michael became obsessed with avenging the killing of his brother. (Tr 402-403, 468). After the shooting, Michael constantly talked to his girlfriend, Erika Williams, about evening the score against Theodore Wright. (Tr 402). She told him that his quest for revenge might get innocent people hurt, and he responded, "Sometimes the good have to suffer with the bad." (Tr 402) · Michael was also concerned about Theodore's and Killer's death threats toward him. (Tr 516-517). On December 8, 1993, Michael had his girlfriend purchase an AK-47 assault rifle at the Gun Gallery on Beach Boulevard. (Tr 403-407, 418-424). Michael was present with Erika at the

transaction. (Tr 403-404, 420). In addition to the rifle, Erika purchased ammunition, a 30-round banana-shaped clip, and a 75-round drum magazine. (Tr 422). Michael told Erika they needed a gun for their own protection. (Tr 403).

Between 10:00 and 10:30 p.m., on December 9, 1993, Michael approached his close friend of ten years, Dale George, and another friend, Ned Pryor, and told them to follow him. (Tr 465-466). Dale got in the front passenger seat of Michael's car and Ned and followed in his own automobile. (Tr 465-466). Michael drove a black Oldsmobile Omega. (Tr 467). They drove to a lounge, Moncrief Liquors. (Tr 467). Michael pointed out a yellowish colored Plymouth parked in the parking lot. (Tr 467), Dale recognized the car as belonging to Theodore Wright. (Tr 468), Dale encouraged Michael to leave. (Tr 468). He knew that Michael had a grudge against Theodore because of the killing of his brother. (Tr 468). Dale said he knew in his mind that Michael was going to kill Theodore. (Tr 468-469). Michael parked his car in the parking lot, and waited. (Tr 469). Dale said that Michael had a knit cap, which can be pulled down over your face. (Tr 469). Michael used the cigarette lighter to burn two eye holes in the cap. (Tr 469). A short time later, Michael said, "Here they come, "and he got out of the car. (Tr 470). He pulled the ski mask down on his face, opened the back door of the car and pulled out the AK-47. He walked toward the yellow Plymouth. (Tr 470, 439-443, 308-309).

On the evening of December 9, 1993, Jimmy 'Killer" West drove to Moncrief Lounge in the yellow 1969 Plymouth he had purchased

from his brother in November. (Tr 398-399, 287-288, 324-325). West went inside, purchased a six-pack of Heineken beer and began talking to acquaintances in the bar. (Tr 285-287, 326-327). Laura Hampton was in the bar with 18-year-old Tamecka Smith. They were waiting for Tamecka's mother, Janice Smith. (Tr 283-284). West was talking to the two women and after awhile, he agreed to take Tamecka to her apartment to pick up her mother. (Tr 286-287). Laura accompanied them. (Tr 287, 326-328). West's friend, Mark Richardson, also left the bar within seconds after West and the two women. (Tr 326-328). West, Tamecka and Laura went to West's car in the parking lot. Tamecka entered the front passenger seat, Laura was intending to get into the back seat when the door could be unlocked. West was sitting in the driver's seat, reaching toward the back to unlock the rear passenger door, when Michael approached from the driver's side, wearing the ski mask and carrying the AK-47. (Tr 287-291, 309-310, 328-329, 443-444, 470-471). Michael later told his aunt, Paula Eoins, that he was ex-petting Theodore Wright to be in the car. (Tr 506-507, 509). When West turned around, Michael realized it was Theodore's brother, Killer. (Tr 509-510) . Michael knew that West had threatened to kill him. (Tr 509-510). West began reaching for something, which Michael thought was a weapon. (Tr 508). Michael knew that Killer carried a firearm, but he also knew Killer would not have had one on his person coming out of the bar since all patrons are searched with a metal detector prior to entering. (Tr 506-508). Michael fired into the car at West. (Tr 290, 309, 329, 470-471). West was hit 12 times,

two of the gunshot wounds were fatal, including a shot to the head which would have caused immediate death. (Tr 372-389). Tamecka Smith was accidentally shot in the process; she received four qunshot wounds, causing her death. (Tr 390-393). Laura Hampton had not yet entered the car at the time of the shooting. She ducked behind the car and fled unharmed. (Tr 291-292). As Michael fled, he fired shots around the parking lot and the front of the building where the security guard and others were standing. (Tr 329-330). There were marks on the building and bullet holes in the vehicles in the parking lot caused by the gunshots. (Tr 355-359). Thirty expended cartridges, which had been fired by an AK-47, were recovered from the parking lot. (Tr 352-353, 426-433). After the shooting, Dale George moved from the passenger seat to the driver's seat of Michael's automobile, drove by, picked up Bell, and they fled the scene. (Tr 470-472).

Michael Bell went to his aunt's house after the shooting, arriving about 2:00 a.m. (Tr 500-502). His aunt, Paula Goins, said Michael was excited when he arrived and told her, "I got that motherfucker." (Tr 502). She asked who, and he said Theodore's brother, Killer West. (Tr 502). Michael explained that he was driving when he saw Theodore's car go by, and he later spotted it parked at Moncrief Liquors. (Tr 503-504). Michael said he waited for Theodore to come out of the bar. (Tr 506-507). He knew he would be unarmed since they check all patrons for weapons before entering the lounge. (Tr 507). Michael said when the guy left the bar and entered the car, he approached him, and at that time, he

realized it was Killer rather than his brother Theodore. (Tr 508-Killer reached under the seat, and Michael was afraid he was 509). re-arming himself since he knew he carried a firearm. (Tr 508-509). According to Ms. Goins, Michael said that he hit the jackpot when it was Killer, rather than Theodore, because he was more afraid of Killer's threats against him than Theodore's. (Tr 510). He also said he and Theodore were even since he killed Theodore's brother like Theodore killed his brother. (Tr 512). Michael said he did not intend to hurt the girl and that shooting her was an accident. (Tr 511). He told his aunt that Ned was also involved in the inci-(Tr 518-520). Michael called his girlfriend, Erika. dent. She came over and talked for a while and left. (Tr 410-412, 513-514). Michael told her that he had killed Theo's brother. (Tr 412). He said he had evened the score, since he had killed Theo's brother. (Tr 412). He also said that an innocent girl got hurt. (Tr 412). Michael later called Erika about the AK-47 and said she should report it stolen. Erika reported the gun stolen to the police. (Tr 414-416). Ms. Goins told Michael he had to leave her home, and upon her return from work the next day at 6:00 p.m., Michael was gone. (Tr 514).

Around the middle of December, a few days later, an acquaintance of Michael's, Charles Jones, saw him on Yulee Street. (Tr 487-488). Michael was trying to sell an AK-47 for \$400. (Tr 488). Jones said that Michael seemed real anxious to sell it, but no one was buying it. (Tr 488). Michael dropped the price to \$300 but still got no buyer. (Tr 488). At that time, Jones knew that the

price of AK-47s on the street was **\$500 - \$600.** (Tr **488**). In late January of 1994, Jones saw Michael again at Moncrief Liquors.(Tr 488-489). Jones asked him why he had killed Jimmy West. (Tr 489). Michael said that since Theodore killed his brother, the closest thing to him, he killed Theodore's brother. (Tr 489). When asked about the girl in the car also being killed, Michael told Jones that "bullets don't know nobody. She was in the wrong place at the wrong time." (Tr 489-490). Jones admitted that he had quarrels and problems with Michael Bell in the past. (Tr 492).

### Facts -- Penalty Phase

The State presented one witness at the penalty phase of the trial. John Lipsey was the security guard at Moncrief Liquors on the night of the shooting. (Tr 649) His job was to scan patrons for weapons with a metal detector before they entered the bar. (Tr 649-650) At the time the shooting began, Lipsey said there were seven or eight people standing along the front of the building waiting to be scanned before entering. (Tr 656) He said bullets struck the front of the building and a nearby house. (Tr 656-659) Lipsey said he and the people standing at the building were in the line of fire, and they ducked or ran for cover when the shooting started. (Tr 656-658)

Margo Bell, Michael's mother, testified for the defense. (Tr 663) She testified about the feud between Michael and Theodore Wright and his brother, Jimmy West. (Tr 664) Jimmy West and Theodore Wright made numerous threats to kill Michael. (Tr 664-665) Theodore also threatened to kill her, telling her that he could get

to Michael through her. (Tr 664) Ms. Bell moved from her house because of the threats. (Tr 664-665) She ... afraid to walk down the street. (Tr 664-666)

Ms. Bell also testified about Michael. (Tr 675-676) He grew up in the church and served as an altar boy. (Tr 676) She was not aware of his being treated for mental problems. (Tr 675) In her opinion, Michael was demonstrating more responsibility and maturity after his release from prison. (Tr 675-676) She felt that Michael's shooting unarmed people was out of character. (Tr 676)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Two times before trial, Bell complained about the competency and effectiveness of his trial counsel. Bell's second complaint included a written pro se motion to discharge his lawyer. Although the court inquired into the complaints, the judge failed to make the necessary findings and failed to afford Bell the option of substitute counsel or representing himself as required. <u>Hardwick</u> <u>V. State,</u> 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988); <u>Nelson v. State</u>, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974).

2. The trial court should not have found **as** an aggravating circumstance that both the murders of Jimmy West and Tamecka Smith were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. The evidence demonstrates that neither homicide was calculated or preplanned, or without pretense of moral or legal justification.

3. The trial court improperly instructed the jury on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance. As given, the instruction was a combination of the one this Court suggested in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 85, 95 n8 (Fla. 1994), and an instruction the State requested concerning transferred intent. This instruction was improper for two reasons. First, the instruction on transferred intent failed to advise the jury that this legal principle was not applicable to the homicide of Tamecka Smith under any theory of the facts. Second, the instruction this Court suggested in <u>Jackson</u> is unconstitutional. This instruction fails to adequately apprise the jury of the legal limitations of the CCP

circumstance, specifically concerning the element of heightened premeditation.

4. The trial court found as a statutory mitigating circumstance that Bell suffered from an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime. However, the court improperly minimized the weight of the circumstance relying on a psychiatric report which was never aimed at an evaluation of existence of the circumstance. The sole issue of the report was competency to stand trial and sanity at the time of the offense. Additionally, the court rejected as a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance the emotional impact Bell suffered as the result of the killing of his brother.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE AN ADEQUATE INQUIRY INTO BELL'S PRETRIAL COM-PLAINTS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND HIS REQUEST FOR APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE COUNSEL.

When a defendant seeks to discharge his lawyer and a ground is an allegation of incompetency of counsel, the trial court is required to make a series of inquiries and to give the defendant certain advice. This procedure was established in <u>Nelson v. State</u>, 274 So.2d 256, 258-259 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), and this Court later adopted the "<u>Nelson</u> inquiry" in <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 1071, 1074-1075 (Fla.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871 (Fla. 1988):

> If incompetency of counsel is assigned by the defendant as the reason, or a reason, the trial judge should make a sufficient inquiry of the defendant and his appointed counsel to determine whether or not there is reasonable cause to believe that the court appointed counsel is not rendering effective assistance to the defendant. If reasonable cause for such belief appears, the court should make a finding to that effect on the record and appoint a substitute attorney who should be allowed adequate time to prepare the defense. If no reasonable basis appears for a finding of ineffective representation, the trial court should so state on the record and advise the defendant that if he discharges his original counsel the State may not thereafter be required to appoint a substitute. Nelson v. State, 274 So.2d 256, 258-59 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973) (citation omitted).

Hardwick, 521 So.2d at 1074-75, quoting Nelson.

As <u>Nelson</u> outlined, the trial judge must inquire into the complaints about counsel's performance. If the complaints are well

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