IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	The same	January 1	E	D
	3 10	J. V.	HITE	
	JUL	8	1996	

MICHAEL BERNARD BELL,)	CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
michial bakkano bala,)	Cithed Deputey Mork
Appellant,)	
)	
vs.)	Case'No. 86,094
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A, BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D, BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

At that point, the trial court made the following comments:

All right. I find that he is not competent to be co-counsel in anything. He doesn't know enough about the rules of procedure to take part as co-counsel.

You have only two options, that is, have Mr. Nichols represent you or represent yourself and I find that you are not competent to represent yourself. You may want to and you may think that you know how, but from asking these questions and the answers you gave, it's apparent to me that you are not able to adequately represent yourself as counsel or co-counsel.

(T 46). When the trial court offered again to continue the trial, Appellant agreed to do so. (T 47-48). Appellant then complained that defense counsel was not following the rules of professional conduct because he had not "[i]nform[ed] [him] of the status of representation." (T 48). When the trial court asked him what he meant, Appellant explained that he would like to participate in the case more and explain more to counsel. (T 49). The trial court responded that that did not have anything to do with counsel not conforming to the rules of professional conduct, and thereafter passed the case to a later date to reset the trial. (T 49-50).

Two months later, during a recess in jury selection, defense counsel indicated that Appellant had given him several motions which he refused to adopt. One motion, however, was to discharge counsel. (T 102-03). The motion alleged that defense counsel had discussed "vital facts" of the case with Appellant in the presence of the brother of a state witness, who told Appellant that he would relate the information to his brother. (T 103-04). Upon inquiry, Appellant admitted that he did not know that the person in the chute with him was the brother of a state witness. (T 104). He did know that the person was an inmate at the jail, because Appellant had seen him twice in the past six months. (T 104-05).

"show[ed] no interest in properly representing [Appellant] and [he was] not rendering effective assistance." (T 105). When asked to explain this statement, Appellant complained that defense counsel would not do anything he asked him to do, and terminated the investigator's work on his case. (T 105).

Upon inquiry by the trial court, defense counsel responded that he was explaining the state's case to Appellant in the chute, and that they discussed nothing confidential. He gave Appellant his opinion regarding the jury's verdict and recommendation, but Appellant said nothing privileged to him. (T 106). Regarding his interest in the case, defense counsel explained that he had deposed all of the state's witnesses, and had provided Appellant with a copy of the depositions and any sworn statements. (T 106). He had hired an investigator after the last hearing, and the investigator had interviewed Appellant several times and had investigated Appellant's potential witnesses:

A number of them have refused to cooperate with him. We have done everything -- I have on a number of occasions both directly and through Don Marks asked Mr. Bell to tell us what he thinks he wants done. I have evaluated that from the stand point of whether or not there's any likelihood of anything productive coming from it, and whether or not the suggestions that he's made would either bring forth relevant testimony. And we have [followed] every one of those to those

conclusion. There's nothing he suggested that is likely to lead to relevant discoverable admissible evidence.

(T 107). Appellant maintained that the information related by defense counsel in the chute would alter the State's case. (T 108). As for the investigator, Appellant admitted that he came to see him twice and wrote down all of the information that Appellant had to give, 'but he never said anything else about it." (T 108). At that point, the trial court denied the motion: 'Okay. Well, I deny the motion. I feel as though explanation has been sufficiently made and I deny the motion." (T 109).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court failed to conduct an adequate inquiry pursuant to Nelson v. State, 274 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), thereby depriving him of effective assistance of counsel. (Initial brief at 14-20). In approving Nelson, this Court adopted the following procedure outlined therein:

If incompetency of counsel is assigned by the defendant as the reason, or a reason, the trial judge should make a sufficient inquiry of the defendant and his appointed counsel to determine whether or not there is reasonable cause to believe that the court appointed counsel is not rendering effective assistance to the defendant. If reasonable cause for such belief appears, the court should make a finding to that effect on the record and appoint a substitute attorney who should be

allowed adequate time to prepare the defense. If no reasonable basis appears for a finding of ineffective representation, the trial court should so state on the record and advise the defendant that if he discharges his original counsel the State may not thereafter be required to appoint a substitute.

Hardwick v. State, 521 So. 2d 1071, 1074-75 (Fla. 1988). The State submits that the trial court made proper inquiries and determined that Appellant had presented no reasonable bases for a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel such as to warrant the dismissal of counsel.

At the January hearing, Appellant's initial complaints were that counsel (1) had not explained the case to him, (2) had not been to see him in jail, and (3) had not asked him about any potential defense witnesses even though Appellant had mentioned to counsel in November that he had a list of people. (T 28-30). In keeping with Nelson, the trial court inquired of defense counsel, who responded that he had met with the prosecutor, that he had explained the case to Appellant, that he had deposed all of the material witnesses, and that he was unaware of any potential defense witnesses until the previous day. (T 31-32). Appellant merely disagreed with counsel, and additionally complained that counsel had expressed his belief several times that the jury would find him guilty, and that he should plead guilty. (T 33-36).

Appellant's complaints were no more than generalized grievances, and despite questioning by the trial court, Appellant could cite no specific acts of alleged incompetence. As this Court has stated previously, "[g]eneral loss of confidence or trust standing alone will not support withdrawal of counsel." Johnston v. State, 497 So. 2d 863, 867 (Fla. 1986). Rather, Appellant must "voice[] a seemingly substantial complaint about counsel" before an inquiry is warranted. Wilder v. State, 587 So. 2d 543, 545 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (emphasis in original). Here, as in Wilder, Appellant voiced only general allegations, which indicated a lack trust rather than proof of ineffectiveness. οf establishing adequate grounds, a criminal defendant does not have constitutional right to obtain different court-appointed counsel. " Capehart v. State, 583 So. 2d 1009, 1014 (Fla. 1991). Thus, the trial court properly denied Appellant's request in January to dismiss his court-appointed counsel. See Lowe v. State, 650 So. 2d 969, 975 (Fla. 1994) (finding Nelson inquiry sufficient where defendant expressed only generalized complaint that counsel "was not doing his best"); Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198, 202-03 (Fla. 1992) (finding Nelson inquiry sufficient where defendant alleged only that counsel had not been to see him in the jail); Kenney v. State, 611 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (same); cf. Lee

v. State, 641 So. 2d 164, 165 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (finding Nelson inquiry unnecessary where defendant alleged only inadequate communication with counsel).

To the extent Appellant makes a procedural argument that the trial court failed to expressly state on the record that it found no reasonable basis to discharge counsel, Appellant has cited no authority to support automatic reversal for such an omission. It is clear from the record that the trial court knew the correct standard to apply. After it questioned both Appellant and counsel, its actions implied its finding. It agreed to continue the case and to appoint an investigator to investigate Appellant's potential defense witnesses, It also made a Faretta inquiry to determine whether Appellant was qualified to represent himself. Its failure to expressly state what it implicitly found does not warrant per se reversal.

Similarly, to the extent Appellant asserts error in the trial court's explanation of Appellant's choices, he has failed to show reversible error. Implicit in the trial court's <u>Faretta</u> inquiry was its decision to deny the motion for discharge. Once denied, the next step was to advise Appellant of his choices to accept counsel or represent himself. The latter choice would have been meaningless, however, if Appellant were not competent to represent

himself, so the trial court conducted a Faretta inquiry even though Appellant never requested, either equivocally or unequivocally, to represent himself.² Perhaps the trial court put the cart before the horse, but the bottom line was that Appellant had no choice to make, because he was not competent to represent himself. Cf. Hardwick, 521 So. 2d at 1073-75. Were his inquiry inadequate or his decision erroneous, however, such error was harmless given that Appellant only sought to act as co-counsel with Mr. Nichols. See Cason v. State. 652 So. 2d 1191, 1192 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (finding that Faretta hearing was never triggered because defendant requested only to act as co-counsel).

At the trial in March, Appellant complained that defense counsel (1) discussed "vital facts" with him in the presence of the brother of a state witness, and (2) showed no interest in properly

² Although the trial court referenced Appellant's request to act as 'co-counsel" before conducting the <u>Faretta</u> inquiry, it explained very clearly that it was attempting to determine whether Appellant was competent to represent himself:

THE COURT: Do you realize that if you were appointed co-counssel [sic] that you would be representing yourself in that capacity as co-counsel and that <u>vou would be on your own?</u> I could not advise you as to how to ask a question or make an objection or how to frame a question. Do you understand that?

⁽T 41) (emphasis added).

representing him. (T 103-05). When pressed for details, Appellant could only say that counsel "don't try to do nothing I ask him to do," and that counsel had terminated the investigator's work. (T 105). Again, these are general grievances and do not establish a reasonable basis for discharging counsel. Cf. Johnston, 497 So. 2d at 867-68; Watts, 593 So. 2d at 202-03; Lowe, 650 So. 2d at 975. Nevertheless, defense counsel explained that nothing confidential was discussed in anyone else's presence, that he had investigated Appellant's case, and that he and his investigator investigated every avenue suggested by Appellant. (T 107). When Appellant conceded that he had spoken with the investigator on several occasions and had relayed everything to him, the trial court denied Appellant's motion to discharge counsel.

Again, Appellant complains that the trial court did not make a specific finding on the record that it found no reasonable basis to discharge counsel. However, Appellant does not explain why the trial court's statement, "I feel as though explanation has been sufficiently made and I deny the motion," is not a sufficient finding that Appellant's motion had no merit. Similarly, to the extent the trial court did not advise Appellant of his choices, or lack thereof, it had already done so at the January hearing. Under the circumstances, repetition was unnecessary, or at most harmless

error. Cf. Morris v. State, 667 So. 2d 982, 986 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (finding that, although trial court did not meet the requirements under Faretta on each of four occasions, it met them in the aggregate); Weems v. State, 645 So. 2d 1098, 1099 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (on reh'g) (finding no reason to reverse where the trial court denied the motion to discharge counsel, and the failure to advise Appellant was patently harmless), rev. denied, 654 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1995); Capehart v. State, 583 So. 2d 1009, 1014 (Fla. 1991) ("While the better course would have been for the trial court to inform Capehart of the option of representing himself, we do not find it erred in denying Capehart's request for new counsel."), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 955, 117 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1992).

Were this Court to find, however, that the trial court's Nelson inquiries were inadequate, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As the First District has held:

[T] he trial court's failure to make a thorough inquiry and thereafter deny the motion for substitution of counsel is . , . not in and of itself a Sixth Amendment violation. In determining whether an abuse of discretion warranting reversal has occurred, an appellate court must consider several factors, in addition to the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry regarding the defendant's complaint, including as well whether the motion was timely made, and if the conflict was so great as to result in a total lack of communication preventing an adequate defense.

In the present case, the record reflects that defendant's motion to dismiss counsel was timely filed before trial, Although the trial court's inquiry as to the grounds stated for was not extensive, the court discharge acknowledged receipt of the motion and gave defendant an opportunity to argue the motion When the appellant did not respond, further. The most important the motion was denied. circumstance militating in favor affirmance, however, is the fact that the appellant proceeded to trial with his court-appointed counsel, and made to dismiss counsel or additional attempt request self-representation. Similarly, there is no evidence in the record of any conflict or lack of communication during the trial between appellant and his attorney that would support a finding that the appellant did not receive an adequate defense. Thus, based on the record at bar, we conclude that the trial court's failure to conduct a more extensive inquiry regarding the merits of the motion to discharge did not violate the appellant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel, and was at most harmless only.

<u>Kott v. State</u>, 518 So. 2d 957, 958 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (citations omitted).

Here, Appellant's first attempt to discharge counsel was made five days before the scheduled trial date. His second attempt was made on the day of jury selection. Moreover, his reasons alleged for discharge did not present a conflict "so great as to result in a total lack of communication preventing an adequate defense." Id. There is no evidence in the record whatsoever that Appellant and

Mr. Nichols had such a conflict or lack of communication that Mr. Nichols could not present an adequate defense. In fact, the record reveals that Mr. Nichols presented as good a defense as was possible given the overwhelming evidence of guilt, which included three eyewitness identifications and numerous inculpatory statements to lay witnesses. Consequently, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed since there is no reasonable possibility that the verdict would have been different even if the trial court's DiGuilionquiries had been more extensive. See State v. 491 so. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); Sweet v. State, 624 So. 2d 1138, 1141 (Fla. 1993) (finding inadequate Faretta hearing harmless where defendant accepted counsel and later professed satisfaction with him); Bovnton v. State, 577 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (finding inadequate Nelson inquiry harmless where defendant made no other complaint throughout several-day trial, counsel mounted vigorous and partially successful defense, and defendant later professed satisfaction with counsel); Parker v. State, 570 So. 2d 1053, 1055 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) ("In light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt, the legal insufficiency of the motion, the defendant's failure to pursue the motion although having the opportunity to do so, and a record which reveals no evidence of incompetence, we find that the failure to conduct an inquiry was harmless error."), rev. denied, 581 So. 2d 1309 (Fla. 1991).

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF THE COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED MURDER AGGRAVATING FACTOR (Restated).

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